CHAPTER 169

HIGHWAY TRAFFIC REGULATION

169.01	Definitions.	169.80	Size, weight, load.
169.073	Red lights forbidden.	169.81	Height and length limitation.
169.09	Accidents.	169.825	Weight limitations.
169.121	Motor vehicle drivers under influence of al-	169.833	Addition of trunk highways to designated
	cohol or controlled substance.		route system.
169.123	Chemical tests for intoxication.	169.835	Federal qualifying highways.
169.1231	Repealed.	169.85	Weighing; penalty.
169.129	Aggravated violations; penalty.	169.86	Special permits.
169.13	Reckless or careless driving.	169.862	Permits for wide loads of baled hay.
169.346	Parking for physically handicapped; prohi-	169.871	Civil penalty.
	bitions; penalties.	169.91	Arrests.
169.42	Littering or placing refuse upon highways or	169.95	Courts to keep separate records of violations.
	adjacent lands, private property, parks or	169.965	Regents of University of Minnesota to regu-
	public places; dropping objects on vehicles.		late traffic and parking.
169.451	School bus inspection.	169.966	State university board to regulate traffic.
169.685	Seat belts and passenger restraint systems for	169.971	Driver improvement clinics; definitions.
	children.	169.974	Motorcycles, motor scooters and motor
169.71	Windshields.		bikes.
169.73	Bumpers, safeguards.	169.99	Uniform traffic ticket.

169.01 DEFINITIONS.

[For text of subds 1 to 6, see M.S.1982]

Subd. 7. Truck-tractor. "Truck-tractor" means:

- (a) a motor vehicle designed and used primarily for drawing other vehicles and not constructed to carry a load other than a part of the weight of the vehicle and load drawn; and
- (b) a motor vehicle designed and used primarily for drawing other vehicles used exclusively for transporting motor vehicles and capable of carrying motor vehicles on its own structure.

[For text of subds 8 to 62, see M.S.1982]

- Subd. 63. Ridesharing arrangement. "Ridesharing arrangement" means the transportation of persons, for a fee or otherwise, in a motor vehicle when the transportation is incidental to another purpose of the driver. The term includes the forms of shared transportation known as carpools, commuter vanpools, and buspools, whether or not furnished by an employer. A "ridesharing arrangement" does not include transportation of employees by an employer from one place of employment to another.
- Subd. 64. **Buspool.** "Buspool" means a prearranged ridesharing arrangement in which a group of persons travel together on a regular basis in a bus, especially to and from their place of employment or to and from a transit stop authorized by a local transit authority.
- Subd. 65. Carpool. "Carpool" means a prearranged ridesharing arrangement in which two or more persons travel together on a regular basis in an automobile, especially to and from their place of employment or to and from a transit stop authorized by a local transit authority.
- Subd. 66. Commuter vanpool. "Commuter vanpool" means a prearranged ridesharing arrangement in which seven to 16 persons travel together on a regular basis in a commuter van, especially to and from their place of employment or to and from a transit stop authorized by a local transit authority.

History: 1983 c 198 s 4; 1983 c 311 s 3-6

169.073 RED LIGHTS FORBIDDEN.

No person or corporation shall place, maintain or display any red light or red sign, signal, or lighting device or maintain it in view of any highway or any line of railroad on or over which trains are operated in such a way as to interfere with the effectiveness or efficiency of any highway traffic-control device or signals or devices used in the operation of a railroad. Upon written notice from the commissioner of transportation, a person or corporation maintaining or owning or displaying a prohibited light shall promptly remove it, or change the color of it to some other color than red. Where a prohibited light or sign interferes with the effectiveness or efficiency of the signals or devices used in the operation of a railroad, the department of public service may cause the removal of it and the department may issue notices and orders for its removal. The department shall proceed as provided in sections 216.13, 216.14, 216.15, 216.16, and 216.17, with a right of appeal to the aggrieved party in accordance with chapter 14.

No person or corporation shall maintain or display any light after written notice from the commissioner of transportation or the department of public service that the light constitutes a traffic hazard and that it has ordered the removal thereof.

History: 1983 c 247 s 69

169.09 ACCIDENTS.

Subdivision 1. Driver to stop. The driver of any vehicle involved in an accident resulting in bodily injury to or death of any person shall immediately stop the vehicle at the scene of the accident, or as close to the scene as possible, but shall then return to and in every event, shall remain at, the scene of the accident until he has fulfilled the requirements of this chapter as to the giving of information. The stop shall be made without unnecessarily obstructing traffic.

[For text of subd 2, see M.S.1982]

- Subd. 3. Driver to give information. (a) The driver of any vehicle involved in an accident resulting in bodily injury to or death of any person, or damage to any vehicle which is driven or attended by any person, shall stop and give his name, address, date of birth and the registration number of the vehicle he is driving, and shall, upon request and if available, exhibit his driver's license or permit to drive to the person struck or the driver or occupant of or person attending any vehicle collided with. The driver also shall give the information and upon request exhibit the license or permit to any police officer at the scene of the accident or who is investigating the accident. The driver shall render reasonable assistance to any person injured in the accident.
- (b) If not given at the scene of the accident, the driver, within 72 hours thereafter, shall give upon request to any person involved in the accident or to a peace officer investigating the accident the name and address of the insurer providing automobile liability insurance coverage, and the local insurance agent for the insurer.

[For text of subds 4 and 5, see M.S.1982]

Subd. 6. Notify police of personal injury. The driver of a vehicle involved in an accident resulting in bodily injury to or death of any person shall, after compliance with the provisions of this section, by the quickest means of communication, give notice of the accident to the local police department, if the accident

occurs within a municipality, or to a state patrol officer if the accident occurs on a trunk highway, or to the office of the sheriff of the county.

Subd. 7. Accident report to commissioner. The driver of a vehicle involved in an accident resulting in bodily injury to or death of any person or total property damage to an apparent extent of \$500 or more, shall forward a written report of the accident to the commissioner of public safety within ten days thereof. If, in the opinion of the commissioner of public safety, the original report of any driver of a vehicle involved in an accident of which report must be made as provided in this section is insufficient he may require the driver to file supplementary reports.

[For text of subds 8 to 13, see M.S.1982]

- Subd. 14. Penalties. (a) The driver of any vehicle who violates subdivision 1 or 6 and who caused the accident is punishable as follows:
- (1) If the accident results in the death of any person, the driver is guilty of a felony and may be sentenced to imprisonment for not more than five years, or to payment of a fine of not more than \$5,000, or both; or
- (2) If the accident results in substantial bodily injury to any person, as defined in section 609.02, subdivision 8, the driver is guilty of a felony and may be sentenced to imprisonment for not more than three years, or to payment of a fine of not more than \$3,000, or both.
- (b) The driver of any vehicle who violates subdivision 1 or 6 and who did not cause the accident or who violates subdivision 2 is guilty of a gross misdemeanor, and may be sentenced to imprisonment for not more than one year, or to payment of a fine of not more than \$1,000, or both.
- (c) Any person who violates subdivision 3, clause (b) is guilty of a petty misdemeanor.
- (d) Any person who violates subdivision 3, clause (a), or subdivision 4, 5, 7, 8, 10, 11, or 12 is guilty of a misdemeanor.

The attorney in the jurisdiction in which the violation occurred who is responsible for prosecution of misdemeanor violations of this section shall also be responsible for prosecution of gross misdemeanor violations of this section.

Subd. 15. Defense. It is an affirmative defense to prosecution under subdivisions 1, 2, and 6 that the driver left the scene of the accident to take any person suffering substantial bodily injury in the accident to receive emergency medical care if the driver of the involved vehicle gives notice to a law enforcement agency as required by subdivision 6 as soon as reasonably feasible after the emergency medical care has been undertaken.

History: 1983 c 345 s 2-7

169.121 MOTOR VEHICLE DRIVERS UNDER INFLUENCE OF ALCOHOL OR CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE.

Subdivision 1. Crime. It is a misdemeanor for any person to drive, operate or be in physical control of any motor vehicle within this state:

- (a) When the person is under the influence of alcohol;
- (b) When the person is under the influence of a controlled substance;
- (c) When the person is under the influence of a combination of any two or more of the elements named in clauses (a) and (b); or
 - (d) When the person's alcohol concentration is 0.10 or more.

The provisions of this subdivision apply, but are not limited in application, to any person who drives, operates, or is in physical control of any motor vehicle in

the manner prohibited by this subdivision upon the ice of any lake, stream, or river, including but not limited to the ice of any boundary water.

Subd. 1a. Arrest. When an accident has occurred, a peace officer may lawfully arrest a person for violation of subdivision 1 without a warrant upon probable cause, without regard to whether the violation was committed in the officer's presence.

When a peace officer has probable cause to believe that a person is driving or operating a motor vehicle in violation of subdivision 1, and before a stop or arrest can be made the person escapes from the geographical limits of the officer's jurisdiction, the officer in fresh pursuit of the person may stop or arrest the person in another jurisdiction within this state and may exercise the powers and perform the duties of a peace officer under sections 169.121 and 169.123. An officer acting in fresh pursuit pursuant to this subdivision is serving in his regular line of duty as fully as though he was within his jurisdiction.

The express grant of arrest powers in this subdivision does not limit the arrest powers of peace officers pursuant to sections 626.65 to 626.70 or section 629.40 in cases of arrests for violation of subdivision 1 or any other provision of law.

Subd. 2. Evidence. Upon the trial of any prosecution arising out of acts alleged to have been committed by any person arrested for driving, operating, or being in physical control of a motor vehicle in violation of subdivision 1, the court may admit evidence of the amount of alcohol or a controlled substance in the person's blood, breath, or urine as shown by a medical or chemical analysis of it, if the test is taken voluntarily or pursuant to section 169.123.

For the purposes of this subdivision:

- (a) evidence that there was at the time an alcohol concentration of 0.05 or less is prima facie evidence that the person was not under the influence of alcohol;
- (b) evidence that there was at the time an alcohol concentration of more than 0.05 and less than 0.10 is relevant evidence in indicating whether or not the person was under the influence of alcohol.

Evidence of the refusal to take a test is admissible into evidence in a prosecution under this section or an ordinance in conformity with it.

For purposes of this section and section 169.123, the result of an evidentiary test administered within two hours of the alleged violation is deemed to be the alcohol concentration at the time of the violation.

The foregoing provisions do not limit the introduction of any other competent evidence bearing upon the question whether or not the person was under the influence of alcohol or a controlled substance, including tests obtained more than two hours after the alleged violation.

Subd. 3. Criminal penalties. A person who violates this section or an ordinance in conformity with it is guilty of a misdemeanor.

The following persons are guilty of a gross misdemeanor:

- (a) A person who violates this section or an ordinance in conformity with it within five years of a prior conviction under this section, section 169.129, or an ordinance or statute from another state in conformity with it; and
- (b) A person who violates this section or an ordinance in conformity with it within ten years of two or more prior convictions under this section, section 169.129, or an ordinance or statute from another state in conformity with it.

The attorney in the jurisdiction in which the violation occurred who is responsible for prosecution of misdemeanor violations of this section shall also be responsible for prosecution of gross misdemeanor violations of this section.

[For text of subds 4 to 9, see M.S.1982]

Subd. 10. Research programs. No person is guilty of a violation of this section committed while participating in a research or demonstration project conducted by the Minnesota highway safety center created pursuant to section 136.147. This subdivision applies only to conduct occurring while operating a state-owned vehicle under the supervision of personnel of the center on the grounds of the center.

History: 1983 c 134 s 1; 1983 c 177 s 1; 1983 c 306 s 1-4

169.123 CHEMICAL TESTS FOR INTOXICATION.

[For text of subd 1, see M.S.1982]

- Implied consent; conditions; election as to type of test. (a) Any person who drives, operates, or is in physical control of a motor vehicle within this state consents, subject to the provisions of this section and section 169.121, to a chemical test of his blood, breath, or urine for the purpose of determining the presence of alcohol or a controlled substance. The test shall be administered at the direction of a peace officer. The test may be required of a person when an officer has reasonable and probable grounds to believe the person was driving, operating, or in physical control of a motor vehicle in violation of section 169.121 and one of the following conditions exist: (1) the person has been lawfully placed under arrest for violation of section 169.121, or an ordinance in conformity with it; or (2) the person has been involved in a motor vehicle accident or collision resulting in property damage, personal injury, or death; or (3) the person has refused to take the screening test provided for by section 169.121, subdivision 6; or (4) the screening test was administered and recorded an alcohol concentration of 0.10 or more. No action may be taken against the person for declining to take a direct blood test, if offered, unless an alternative test was offered.
- (b) At the time a chemical test specimen is requested, the person shall be informed:
- (1) that if testing is refused, the person's right to drive will be revoked for a minimum period of six months;
- (2) that if a test is taken and the results indicate that the person is under the influence of alcohol or a controlled substance, the person will be subject to criminal penalties and the person's right to drive may be revoked for a minimum period of 90 days;
- (3) that the person has a right to consult with an attorney but that this right is limited to the extent that it cannot unreasonably delay administration of the test or the person will be deemed to have refused the test;
- (4) that after submitting to testing, the person has the right to have additional tests made by a person of his own choosing; and
- (5) that if he refuses to take a test, the refusal will be offered into evidence against him at trial.

[For text of subd 2a, see M.S.1982]

Subd. 3. Manner of making test; additional tests. Only a physician, medical technician, physician's trained mobile intensive care paramedic, registered nurse, medical technologist or laboratory assistant acting at the request of a peace officer may withdraw blood for the purpose of determining the presence of alcohol or controlled substance. This limitation does not apply to the taking of a breath or urine specimen. The person tested has the right to have a person of his own choosing administer a chemical test or tests in addition to any administered at the

direction of a peace officer; provided, that the additional test specimen on behalf of the person is obtained at the place where the person is in custody, after the test administered at the direction of a peace officer, and at no expense to the state. The failure or inability to obtain an additional test or tests by a person shall not preclude the admission in evidence of the test taken at the direction of a peace officer unless the additional test was prevented or denied by the peace officer. The physician, medical technician, physician's trained mobile intensive care paramedic, medical technologist, laboratory assistant or registered nurse drawing blood at the request of a peace officer for the purpose of determining alcohol concentration shall in no manner be liable in any civil or criminal action except for negligence in drawing the blood. The person administering a breath test shall be fully trained in the administration of breath tests pursuant to training given by the commissioner of public safety.

[For text of subds 4 to 5c, see M.S.1982]

Subd. 6. Hearing. A hearing under this section shall be before a municipal or county judge, in any county in the judicial district where the alleged offense occurred. The hearing shall be to the court and may be conducted at the same time and in the same manner as hearings upon pre-trial motions in the criminal prosecution under section 169.121, if any. The hearing shall be recorded. The commissioner of public safety shall appear and be represented by the attorney general or through the prosecuting authority for the jurisdiction involved.

The hearing shall be held at the earliest practicable date, and in any event no later than 60 days following the filing of the petition for review. The judicial district administrator shall establish procedures to ensure efficient compliance with the provisions of this subdivision. To accomplish this, the administrator may, whenever possible, consolidate and transfer review hearings among the county courts within the judicial district.

The scope of the hearing shall be limited to the issues of:

- (1) whether the peace officer had reasonable and probable grounds to believe the person was driving, operating, or in physical control of a motor vehicle while under the influence of alcohol or a controlled substance, and whether the person was lawfully placed under arrest for violation of section 169.121, or the person was involved in a motor vehicle accident or collision resulting in property damage, personal injury or death, or the person refused to take a screening test provided for by section 169.121, subdivision 6, or the screening test was administered and recorded an alcohol concentration of 0.10 or more; and
- (2) whether at the time of the request for the test the peace officer informed the person of his rights and the consequences of taking or refusing the test as required by subdivision 2; and
- (3) either (a) whether the person refused to permit the test, or (b) whether a test was taken and the test results indicated an alcohol concentration of 0.10 or more at the time of testing, and whether the testing method used was valid and reliable, and whether the test results were accurately evaluated.

It shall be an affirmative defense for the petitioner to prove that, at the time of the refusal, his refusal to permit the test was based upon reasonable grounds.

Certified or otherwise authenticated copies of laboratory or medical personnel reports, records, documents, licenses and certificates shall be admissible as substantive evidence.

The court shall order either that the revocation be rescinded or sustained and forward the order to the commissioner of public safety. The court shall file its

order within 14 days following the hearing. If the revocation is sustained, the court shall also forward the person's driver's license or permit to the commissioner of public safety for his further action if the license or permit is not already in the commissioner's possession.

Subd. 7. Appeal. Any party aggrieved by the decision of the reviewing court may appeal the decision as provided in section 487.39.

[For text of subds 8 to 10, see M.S.1982]

History: 1983 c 247 s 70; 1983 c 301 s 142; 1983 c 306 s 5,6

169.1231 [Repealed, 1983 c 306 s 7]

169.129 AGGRAVATED VIOLATIONS; PENALTY.

Any person who drives, operates, or is in physical control of a motor vehicle, the operation of which requires a driver's license, within this state in violation of section 169.121 or an ordinance in conformity with it before his driver's license or driver's privilege has been reinstated following its cancellation, suspension or revocation (1) because he drove, operated, or was in physical control of a motor vehicle while under the influence of alcohol or a controlled substance or while he had an alcohol concentration of 0.10 or more or (2) because he refused to take a test which determines the presence of alcohol or a controlled substance when requested to do so by a proper authority, is guilty of a gross misdemeanor. Jurisdiction over prosecutions under this section is in the county court.

History: 1983 c 177 s 2

169.13 RECKLESS OR CARELESS DRIVING.

[For text of subd 1, see M.S.1982]

Subd. 2. Careless driving. Any person who operates or halts any vehicle upon any street or highway carelessly or heedlessly in disregard of the rights of others, or in a manner that endangers or is likely to endanger any property or any person, including the driver or passengers of the vehicle, is guilty of a misdemeanor.

[For text of subd 3, see M.S.1982]

History: 1983 c 236 s 1

169.346 PARKING FOR PHYSICALLY HANDICAPPED; PROHIBITIONS; PENALTIES.

Subdivision 1. Parking criteria. No person shall park a motor vehicle in or obstruct access to a parking space designated and reserved for the physically handicapped, on either private or public property, or exercise the parking privilege provided in section 169.345, unless:

- (a) that person is a physically handicapped person as defined in section 169.345, subdivision 2, or the person is transporting a physically handicapped person; and
- (b) the vehicle visibly displays the certificate or license plate issued to physically handicapped persons or the certificate issued to persons transporting physically handicapped persons by the department of public safety pursuant to section 169.345, subdivision 3, or 168.021, or if the vehicle visibly displays an

equivalent certificate, insignia, or license plate issued by another state or one of its political subdivisions.

- Subd. 2. Signs. Handicapped parking spaces must be designated and identified by the posting of signs incorporating the international symbol of access in white on blue and indicating that the parking space is reserved for the handicapped with vehicles displaying the required certificate, license plates, or insignia. Spaces which have been clearly identified for handicapped parking by signs which are not in compliance with the design standards as set forth in this subdivision shall also be deemed designated and reserved for the physically handicapped for the purposes of this section. A sign posted for the purpose of this section must be visible from inside a vehicle parked in the space, be kept clear of snow or other obstructions which block its visibility, and be nonmovable or only movable by authorized persons.
- Subd. 3. Penalty. Any person who violates the provisions of subdivision 1 is guilty of a petty misdemeanor and shall be fined not less than \$25 nor more than \$100. This subdivision shall be enforced in the same manner as parking ordinances or regulations are enforced in the governmental subdivision in which the violation occurs. Law enforcement officers have the authority to tag vehicles parked on either private or public property in violation of the provisions of subdivision 1. A handicapped person charged with violating subdivision 1 because he parked in a handicapped parking space without the required certificate or insignia shall not be convicted if he produces in court or prior to the court appearance the required certificate or insignia and demonstrates that he was entitled to the certificate or insignia at the time of arrest or tagging.

History: 1983 c 24 s 1

169.42 LITTERING OR PLACING REFUSE UPON HIGHWAYS OR ADJACENT LANDS, PRIVATE PROPERTY, PARKS OR PUBLIC PLACES; DROPPING OBJECTS ON VEHICLES.

[For text of subds 1 to 4, see M.S.1982]

Subd. 5. Penalty. Any person violating the provisions of this section is guilty of a misdemeanor. The record of any conviction of or plea of guilty under this section of a person operating a motor vehicle shall be immediately forwarded to the department of public safety for inclusion upon that offender's driving record. Any second or subsequent offense under this section shall require a minimum fine in the amount of \$100. Any judge may, for any violation of this section, order the offender to pick up litter along any public highway or road for four to eight hours under the direction of the department of transportation, with the option of a jail sentence being imposed.

History: 1983 c 359 s 11

169.451 SCHOOL BUS INSPECTION.

Subdivision 1. The Minnesota state patrol shall inspect every school bus annually to ascertain whether its construction, design, equipment, and color comply with all provisions of law.

Subd. 2. No person shall drive, or no owner shall knowingly permit or cause to be driven, any school bus unless there is displayed thereon a certificate issued by the commissioner of public safety stating that on a certain date, which shall be within 13 months of the date of operation, a member of the Minnesota state patrol inspected the bus and found that on the date of inspection the bus complied with

the applicable provisions of state law relating to construction, design, equipment, and color. The commissioner of public safety shall provide by rule for the issuance and display of distinctive inspection certificates.

Subd. 3. The commissioner of public safety shall provide by rule a point system for evaluating the effect on safety operation of any variance from law detected during school bus inspections conducted pursuant to subdivision 1.

History: 1983 c 216 art 1 s 28

169.685 SEAT BELTS AND PASSENGER RESTRAINT SYSTEMS FOR CHILDREN.

[For text of subds 1 to 4, see M.S.1982]

- Subd. 5. (a) Every parent or legal guardian of a child under the age of four years residing in this state, when transporting the child on the streets and highways of this state in a motor vehicle that is owned by the parent or guardian and was equipped with factory-installed seat belts, shall equip and install for use in the motor vehicle, according to the manufacturer's instructions, a child passenger restraint system meeting federal motor vehicle safety standards.
- (b) No parent or legal guardian residing in this state who is operating a motor vehicle on the streets and highways of this state may transport his or her child under the age of four in a seat of the motor vehicle that was equipped with a factory-installed seat belt, unless the child is securely fastened in the child passenger restraint system. Any parent or legal guardian who violates the provisions of this subdivision is guilty of a petty misdemeanor. No penalty under clause (a) of this subdivision may be applied to a person who shows satisfactory evidence to the county court or violations bureau, in person or by mail, of having purchased or otherwise obtained the use of a child restraint system meeting federal motor vehicle safety standards, within 30 days of the violation. No fine may be imposed for a violation which is not a second or subsequent violation within a one-year period. A fine for a violation of this subdivision which is a petty misdemeanor may not exceed \$25.

History: 1983 c 261 s 1

169.71 WINDSHIELDS.

[For text of subds 1 to 3, see M.S.1982]

- Subd. 4. No person shall drive or operate any motor vehicle required to be registered in the state of Minnesota upon any street or highway under the following conditions:
- (a) when the windshield is composed of, covered by, or treated with any material which has the effect of making the windshield more reflective or in any other way reducing light transmittance through the windshield;
- (b) when any window on the vehicle is composed of, covered by, or treated with any material that has a highly reflective or mirrored appearance;
- (c) when any side window or rear window is composed of or treated with any material so as to obstruct or substantially reduce the driver's clear view through the window or has a light transmittance of less than 50 percent plus or minus three percent in the visible light range or a luminous reflectance of more than 20 percent plus or minus three percent; or

(d) when any material has been applied after August 1, 1985, to any motor vehicle window without an accompanying permanent marking which indicates the percent of transmittance and the percent of reflectance afforded by the material. The marking must be in a manner so as not to obscure vision and be readable when installed on the vehicle.

This subdivision does not apply to glazing materials which:

- (a) have not been modified since the original installation, nor to original replacement windows and windshields, that were originally installed or replaced in conformance with Federal Motor Vehicle Safety Standard 205;
- (b) were required to satisfy prescription needs of the driver of the vehicle and the driver is in possession of such prescription;
- (c) were applied to the rear windows of a pickup truck as defined in section 168.011, subdivision 29, or to the rear windows or the side windows on either side behind the driver's seat of a van as defined in section 168.011, subdivision 28, or of any vehicle used to transport human remains by funeral establishments holding a permit under the provisions of section 149.08.

History: 1983 c 234 s 1

NOTE: Subdivision 4, clause (d), as added by Laws 1983, chapter 234, section 1, is effective Augusut 1, 1985. See Laws 1983, chapter 234, section 2.

169.73 BUMPERS, SAFEGUARDS.

Subdivision 1. **Definitions.** As used in this section "private passenger vehicle" means a four wheeled passenger automobile as defined in section 168.011, but does not include a collector vehicle as defined in section 168.10, a station wagon or other multipurpose vehicle or a truck with a manufacturer's rated capacity of 2,000 pounds or less. "Suspension system" includes both the front and rear wheels and tires of a vehicle as specified in subdivision 3.

- Subd. 2. **Bumper requirement.** All private passenger vehicles shall be equipped with front and rear bumpers.
- Subd. 3. Bumper restrictions. No person shall operate a passenger automobile, station wagon, jeep type automobile, or truck with a manufacturer's rated capacity of 2,000 pounds or less that: (a) was originally equipped with bumpers as standard equipment, unless the vehicle is equipped with bumpers equal to the original equipment; or (b) has a suspension system or body so modified that the height of the vehicle or any bumpers varies more than six inches from the original manufactured height for the vehicle.
- Subd. 4. Maximum bumper height. Notwithstanding the restrictions contained in subdivision 3, bumpers required under this section shall not exceed a height of 20 inches on any passenger automobile or station wagon or 25 inches on any four-wheel drive multipurpose type vehicle or truck having a manufacturer's rated capacity of 2,000 pounds or less. The height of the bumper shall be determined by measuring from the bottom of the bumper, excluding any bumper attachments, to the ground.

Competent evidence that a vehicle was originally manufactured with bumpers higher than prescribed in this subdivision shall be an affirmative defense in any action under this section.

Subd. 5. Penalty. Any person who violates this section is guilty of a misdemeanor.

History: 1983 c 170 s 1

169.80 SIZE, WEIGHT, LOAD.

[For text of subd 1, see M.S.1982]

Subd. 2. Outside width. The total outside width of a vehicle exclusive of rear view mirrors or load securement devices which are not an integral part of the vehicle and not exceeding three inches on each side, or the load may not exceed 102 inches except that the outside width of a farm tractor, or a vehicle owned by a political subdivision and used exclusively for the purpose of handling sewage sludge from sewage treatment facilities to farm fields or disposal sites, may not exceed 12 feet, and except as otherwise provided in this section.

A vehicle exceeding 102 inches in total outside width, owned by a political subdivision and used for the purpose of transporting or applying sewage sludge to farm fields or disposal sites may not transport sludge for distances greater than 15 miles, nor may it be used for transportation of sewage sludge or return travel between the hours of sunset and sunrise, or at any other time when visibility is impaired by weather, smoke, fog, or other conditions rendering persons and vehicles not clearly discernible on the highway at a distance of 500 feet.

The total outside width of a low bed trailer or equipment dolly, and the load, used exclusively for transporting farm machinery and construction equipment may not exceed nine feet in width except that a low bed trailer or equipment dolly with a total outside width, including the load, in excess of 102 inches may not be operated on any interstate highway without first having obtained a permit for the operation under section 169.86. The vehicle must display 12-inch square red flags as markers at the front and rear of the left side of the vehicle.

The total outside width of a trackless trolley car or passenger motor bus, operated exclusively in a city or contiguous cities in this state, may not exceed nine feet.

Subd. 2a. [Repealed, 1983 c 198 s 15]

[For text of subd 3, see M.S.1982]

History: 1983 c 198 s 5

169.81 HEIGHT AND LENGTH LIMITATION.

[For text of subd 1, see M.S.1982]

- Subd. 2. Length of vehicles. (a) No single unit motor vehicle, except truck cranes which may not exceed 45 feet, unladen or with load may exceed a length of 40 feet extreme overall dimensions inclusive of front and rear bumpers, except that the governing body of a city is authorized by permit to provide for the maximum length of a motor vehicle, or combination of motor vehicles, or the number of vehicles that may be fastened together, and which may be operated upon the streets or highways of a city; provided, that the permit may not prescribe a length less than that permitted by state law. A motor vehicle operated in compliance with the permit on the streets or highways of the city is not in violation of this chapter.
- (b) No single semitrailer may have an overall length, exclusive of non-cargo-carrying accessory equipment, including refrigeration units or air compressors, necessary for safe and efficient operation mounted or located on the end of the semitrailer adjacent to the truck or truck-tractor, in excess of 48 feet, except as provided in paragraph (d). No single trailer may have an overall length inclusive of tow bar assembly and exclusive of rear protective bumpers which do not increase the overall length by more than six inches, in excess of 45 feet. For

determining compliance with the provisions of this subdivision, the length of the semitrailer or trailer must be determined separately from the overall length of the combination of vehicles.

- (c) No semitrailer or trailer used in a three-vehicle combination may have an overall length, exclusive of non-cargo-carrying accessory equipment, including refrigeration units or air compressors, necessary for safe and efficient operation mounted or located on the end of the semitrailer or trailer adjacent to the truck or truck-tractor, and further exclusive of the tow bar assembly, in excess of 28-1/2 feet.
- (d) The commissioner may issue an annual permit for a semitrailer in excess of 48 feet in length, if the distance from the kingpin to the centerline of the rear axle group of the semitrailer does not exceed 41 feet and if a combination of vehicles, which includes a semitrailer in excess of 48 feet for which a permit has been issued under this paragraph, does not exceed an overall length of 65 feet. The annual fee for a permit issued under this paragraph is \$36.
- Subd. 3. Length of vehicle combinations. (a) Statewide, except as provided in paragraph (b), no combination of vehicles coupled together, including truck-tractor and semitrailer, may consist of more than two units and no combination of vehicles, unladen or with load, may exceed a total length of 65 feet. The length limitation does not apply to the transportation of telegraph poles, telephone poles, electric light and power poles, piling, or pole length pulpwood, and is subject to the following further exceptions: the length limitations do not apply to vehicles transporting pipe or other objects by a public utility when required for emergency or repair of public service facilities or when operated under special permits as provided in this subdivision, but with respect to night transportation, a vehicle and the load must be equipped with a sufficient number of clearance lamps and marker lamps on both sides and upon the extreme ends of a projecting load to clearly mark the dimensions of the load. Mount combinations may be drawn but the combinations may not exceed 65 feet in length. The limitation on the number of units does not apply to vehicles used for transporting milk from point of production to point of first processing, in which case no combination of vehicles coupled together unladen or with load, including truck-tractor and semitrailers, may consist of more than three units and no combination of those vehicles may exceed a total length of 65 feet. Notwithstanding other provisions of this section, and except as provided in paragraph (b), no combination of vehicles consisting of a truck-tractor and semitrailer designed and used exclusively for the transportation of motor vehicles may exceed 65 feet in length. The load may extend a total of seven feet, but may not extend more than three feet beyond the front or four feet beyond the rear, and in no case may the overall length of the combination of vehicles, unladen or with load, exceed 65 feet. For the purpose of registration, trailers coupled with a truck-tractor, semitrailer combination are semitrailers. The state as to state trunk highways, and a city or town as to roads or streets located within the city or town, may issue permits authorizing the transportation of combinations of vehicles exceeding the limitations in this subdivision over highways, roads, or streets within their boundaries. Combinations of vehicles authorized by this subdivision may be restricted as to the use of highways by the commissioner as to state trunk highways, and a road authority as to highways or streets subject to its jurisdiction. Nothing in this subdivision alters or changes the authority vested in local authorities under the provisions of section 169.04.
- (b) The following combination of vehicles regularly engaged in the transportation of commodities may operate only on divided highways having four or more lanes of travel, and on other highways as may be designated by the commissioner

of transportation subject to section 169.87, subdivision 1, and subject to the approval of the authority having jurisdiction over the highway, for the purpose of providing reasonable access between the divided highways of four or more lanes of travel and terminals, facilities for food, fuel, repair, and rest, and points of loading and unloading for household goods carriers, livestock carriers, or for the purpose of providing continuity of route:

- (1) a truck-tractor and semitrailer exceeding 65 feet in length;
- (2) a combination of vehicles with an overall length exceeding 55 feet and including a truck-tractor and semitrailer drawing one additional semitrailer which may be equipped with an auxiliary dolly;
- (3) a combination of vehicles with an overall length exceeding 55 feet and including a truck-tractor and semitrailer drawing one full trailer; and
- (4) a truck-tractor and semitrailer designed and used exclusively for the transportation of motor vehicles and exceeding an overall length of 65 feet including the load.

Vehicles operated under the provisions of this section must conform to the standards for those vehicles prescribed by the United States Department of Transportation, Federal Highway Administration, Bureau of Motor Carrier Safety, as amended.

Subd. 3a. [Repealed, 1983 c 198 s 15]

Subd. 3b. [Repealed, 1983 c 198 s 15]

[For text of subds 4 and 5, see M.S.1982]

Subd. 7. [Repealed, 1983 c 198 s 15]

[For text of subds 8 to 10, see M.S.1982]

History: 1983 c 198 s 7,8

NOTE: Subdivision 3b was amended by Laws 1983, chapter 293, section 66, to read as follows:

"Subd. 3b. Permits for certain semitrailers; fees. The commissioner may issue an annual permit for a semitrailer in excess of 45 feet in length, if the distance from the kingpin to the center of the rearmost axle of the semitrailer does not exceed 40 feet, and if a combination of vehicles, which includes a semitrailer in excess of 45 feet for which a permit has been issued pursuant to this subdivision, does not exceed the length limits set out in this section. The annual fee for a permit issued under this subdivision is \$40."

169.825 WEIGHT LIMITATIONS.

[For text of subds 1 to 10, see M.S.1982]

- Subd. 11. Gross weight seasonal increases. (a) The limitations provided in this section are increased:
 - (1) by ten percent from January 1 to March 7 each winter, statewide;
- (2) by ten percent from December 1 through December 31 each winter in the zone bounded as follows: beginning at Pigeon River in the northeast corner of Minnesota; thence in a southwesterly direction along the north shore of Lake Superior along Trunk Highway No. 61 to the junction with Trunk Highway No. 210; thence westerly along Trunk Highway No. 210 to the junction with Trunk Highway No. 10; thence northwesterly along Trunk Highway No. 10 to the junction with Trunk Highway No. 59; thence northerly along Trunk Highway No. 59 to the junction with Trunk Highway No. 2; thence westerly along Trunk Highway No. 32; thence northerly along Trunk Highway No. 32 to the junction with Trunk Highway No. 11; thence northeast along Trunk Highway No. 11 to the east line of Range 43W to the Minnesota-Canadian Border; thence easterly along said Border to Lake Superior.

- (b) The duration of a ten percent increase in load limits is subject to limitation by order of the commissioner, subject to implementation of springtime load restrictions, or March 7.
- (c) When the ten percent increase is in effect, a permit is required for a motor vehicle, trailer, or semitrailer combination that has a gross weight in excess of 80,000 pounds, an axle group weight in excess of that prescribed in subdivision 10, or a single axle weight in excess of 20,000 pounds and which travels on interstate routes
- (d) In cases where gross weights in an amount less than that set forth in this section are fixed, limited, or restricted on a highway or bridge by or under another section of this chapter, the lesser gross weight as fixed, limited, or restricted may not be exceeded and must control instead of the gross weights set forth in this section.
- (e) Notwithstanding any other provision of this subdivision, no vehicle may exceed a total gross vehicle weight of 80,000 pounds on routes which have not been designated by the commissioner under section 169.832, subdivision 11.

[For text of subds 12a to 15, see M.S.1982]

History: 1983 c 198 s 9

169.833 ADDITION OF TRUNK HIGHWAYS TO DESIGNATED ROUTE SYSTEM.

Subdivision 1. Identification of projects. The commissioner shall develop a priority list of trunk highway routes to be added to the system of routes designated under section 169.832. The commissioner shall consult with representatives of the trucking, shipping, and agricultural industries and local authorities in developing the list. A route shall be added to the designated route system after completion of road improvements that provide road strength adequate to carry the permissible weights under section 169.825 or when the commissioner otherwise determines that designation of a route is reasonable.

Subd. 2. Funding of additions to the system. On July 1 of each year the commissioner of finance shall certify to the commissioner the estimated increase in revenue to the trunk highway fund resulting from the increase in the gasoline and special fuel excise tax under section 296.02. The commissioner shall expend 15 percent of the increase in revenue to the trunk highway fund resulting from the increase in the gasoline and special fuel excise tax under section 296.02 and 15 percent of future increases in gasoline and special fuel excise tax revenues to the trunk highway fund for the purposes of subdivision 1. In the event that actual expenditures during any fiscal year are less or greater than 15 percent when compared to actual revenue the commissioner shall adjust his expenditures for the purpose of subdivision 1 for the following years in order to achieve compliance with this subdivision.

History: 1983 c 17 s 5

169.835 FEDERAL QUALIFYING HIGHWAYS.

The commissioner of transportation may not add routes to the system of federal qualifying highways submitted to the federal highway administration in accordance with the Surface Transportation Assistance Act of 1982, United States

Code, title 49, section 2311, except in compliance with the criteria established by the commissioner for the addition of routes.

History: 1983 c 198 s 10

169.85 WEIGHING; PENALTY.

The driver of a vehicle which has been lawfully stopped may be required by a peace officer to submit the vehicle and load to a weighing by means of portable or stationary scales, and the peace officer may require that the vehicle be driven to the nearest available scales if the distance to the scales is no further than five miles, or if the distance from the point where the vehicle is stopped to the vehicle's destination is not increased by more than ten miles as a result of proceeding to the nearest available scales. Official traffic control devices as authorized by section 169.06 may be used to direct the driver to the nearest scale. When a truck weight enforcement operation is conducted by means of portable or stationary scales and signs giving notice of the operation are posted within the highway right-of-way and adjacent to the roadway within two miles of the operation, the driver of a truck or combination of vehicles registered for or weighing in excess of 12,000 pounds, and the driver of a charter bus, except a bus registered in Minnesota, shall proceed to the scale site and submit the vehicle to weighing and inspection.

Upon weighing a vehicle and load, as provided in this section, an officer may require the driver to stop the vehicle in a suitable place and remain standing until a portion of the load is removed that is sufficient to reduce the gross weight of the vehicle to the limit permitted under section 169.825. A suitable place is a location where loading or tampering with the load is not prohibited by federal, state, or local law, rule or ordinance. A driver may be required to unload a vehicle only if the weighing officer determines that (a) on routes subject to the provisions of section 169.825, the weight on an axle exceeds the lawful gross weight prescribed by section 169.825, by 2,000 pounds or more, or the weight on a group of two or more consecutive axles in cases where the distance between the centers of the first and last axles of the group under consideration is ten feet or less exceeds the lawful gross weight prescribed by section 169.825, by 4,000 pounds or more; or (b) on routes designated by the commissioner in section 169.832, subdivision 11, the overall weight of the vehicle or the weight on an axle or group of consecutive axles exceeds the maximum lawful gross weights prescribed by section 169.825; or (c) the weight is unlawful on an axle or group of consecutive axles on a road restricted in accordance with section 169.87. Material unloaded must be cared for by the owner or driver of the vehicle at the risk of the owner or driver.

A driver of a vehicle who fails or refuses to stop and submit the vehicle and load to a weighing as required in this section, or who fails or refuses, when directed by an officer upon a weighing of the vehicle, to stop the vehicle and otherwise comply with the provisions of this section, is guilty of a misdemeanor.

History: 1983 c 198 s 11

169.86 SPECIAL PERMITS.

[For text of subds 1 to 3, see M.S.1982]

Subd. 3a. Denial of permit; manufactured home frames. The commissioner or local authority may not deny a permit for the transport to a manufacturing plant of manufactured home frames not more than 15-1/2 feet in width during

periods of seasonal weight restrictions unless the load exceeds the weight restrictions.

[For text of subd 4, see M.S.1982]

- Subd. 5. Fees. The commissioner, with respect to highways under his jurisdiction, may charge a fee for each permit issued. All such fees for permits issued by the commissioner of transportation shall be deposited in the state treasury and credited to the trunk highway fund. Except for those annual permits for which the permit fees are specified elsewhere in this chapter, the fees shall be:
 - (a) \$15 for each single trip permit.
- (b) \$36 for each job permit. A job permit may be issued for like loads carried on a specific route for a period not to exceed two months. "Like loads" means loads of the same product, weight and dimension.
- (c) \$60 for an annual permit to be issued for a period not to exceed 12 consecutive months. Annual permits may be issued for:
- (1) refuse compactor vehicles that carry a gross weight up to but not in excess of 22,000 pounds on a single rear axle and not in excess of 38,000 pounds on a tandem rear axle;
- (2) motor vehicles used to alleviate a temporary crisis adversely affecting the safety or well-being of the public;
- (3) motor vehicles which travel on interstate highways and carry loads authorized under subdivision 1a.
- (d) \$120 for an annual permit to be issued for a period not to exceed 12 consecutive months. Annual permits may be issued for:
 - (1) truck cranes;
 - (2) construction equipment, machinery, and supplies;
 - (3) manufactured homes;
- (4) farm equipment when the movement is not made according to the provisions of section 169.80, subdivision 1, clauses (a) to (f);
 - (5) double-deck buses;
 - (6) commercial boat hauling.

[For text of subd 6, see M.S.1982]

History: 1983 c 198 s 6; 1983 c 293 s 67

169.862 PERMITS FOR WIDE LOADS OF BALED HAY.

The commissioner of transportation with respect to highways under the commissioner's jurisdiction, and local authorities with respect to highways under their jurisdiction, may issue an annual permit to enable a vehicle carrying round baled hay, with a total outside width of the vehicle or the load not exceeding 11-1/2 feet, to be operated on public streets and highways. Permits issued under this section are governed by the applicable provisions of section 169.86 except as otherwise provided herein and, in addition, carry the following restrictions:

- (a) The vehicles may not be operated between sunset and sunrise, when visibility is impaired by weather, fog, or other conditions rendering persons and vehicles not clearly visible at a distance of 500 feet, or on Saturdays, Sundays, and holidays.
 - (b) The vehicles may not be operated on interstate highways.

- (c) The vehicles may not be operated on a trunk highway with a pavement less than 24 feet wide.
- (d) A vehicle operated under the permit must be equipped with a retractable or removable mirror on the left side so located that it will reflect to the driver a clear view of the highway for a distance of at least 200 feet to the rear of the vehicle. Simultaneous flashing amber lights, as provided in section 169.59, subdivision 4, must be displayed to the front and rear of the vehicle. The flashing amber lights must be lighted only when the width of the load exceeds 102 inches. The flashing amber light system is in addition to and separate from the turn signal system and the hazard warning light system.
- (e) A vehicle operated under the permit must display red, orange, or yellow flags, 12 inches square, as markers at the front and rear and on both sides of the load. The load must be securely bound to the transporting vehicle.

The fee for the permit is \$24.

History: 1983 c 198 s 12; 1983 c 293 s 68

169.871 CIVIL PENALTY.

Subdivision 1. Civil liability. The owner or lessee of a vehicle that is operated with a gross weight in excess of a weight limit imposed under sections 169.825 and 169.832 to 169.851 and 169.87 or a shipper who ships or tenders goods for shipment in a single truck or combination vehicle that exceeds a weight limit imposed under sections 169.825 and 169.832 to 169.851 and 169.87 is liable for a civil penalty as follows:

- (a) If the total gross excess weight is not more than 1,000 pounds, one cent per pound for each pound in excess of the legal limit;
- (b) If the total gross excess weight is more than 1,000 pounds but not more than 3,000 pounds, \$10 plus five cents per pound for each pound in excess of 1,000 pounds;
- (c) If the total gross excess weight is more than 3,000 pounds but not more than 5,000 pounds, \$110 plus ten cents per pound for each pound in excess of 3,000 pounds;
- (d) If the total gross excess weight is more than 5,000 pounds but not more than 7,000 pounds, \$310 plus 15 cents per pound for each pound in excess of 5,000 pounds;
- (e) If the total gross excess weight is more than 7,000 pounds, \$610 plus 20 cents per pound for each pound in excess of 7,000 pounds.

Any penalty imposed upon a defendant under this subdivision shall not exceed the penalty prescribed by this subdivision. Any fine paid by the defendant in a criminal overweight action that arose from the same overweight violation shall be applied toward payment of the civil penalty under this subdivision. A peace officer who cites a driver for a violation of the weight limitations established by sections 169.81 to 169.851 and 169.87 shall give written notice to the driver that he or another may also be liable for the civil penalties provided herein in the same or separate proceedings.

Subd. 1a. The owner or lessee of a vehicle that is operated with a gross weight in excess of a weight limit imposed by permit under sections 169.86 and 169.862 and a shipper who ships or tenders goods for shipment in a single truck or combination vehicle that exceeds a weight limit permitted under sections 169.86 or 169.862 is liable for a civil penalty at a rate of five cents per pound for each pound

in excess of the weight permitted under section 169.86 or 169.862, or \$100, whichever is greater.

Any penalty imposed upon a defendant under this subdivision shall not exceed the penalty prescribed by this subdivision. Any fine paid by the defendant in a criminal overweight action that arose from the same overweight violation may not be applied toward payment of the civil penalty under this subdivision. A peace officer who cites a driver for a violation of the weight limitations established by permit pursuant to section 169.86 or 169.862 shall give written notice to the driver that the driver or another may also be liable for the civil penalty provided in this subdivision in the same or separate proceedings.

[For text of subds 2 to 6, see M.S. 1982]

History: 1983 c 198 s 13,14

169.91 ARRESTS.

Subdivision 1. **Procedure.** When any person is arrested for any violation of any law or ordinance relating to the operation or registration of vehicles punishable as a petty misdemeanor, misdemeanor, gross misdemeanor, or felony, the arrested person shall be taken into custody and immediately taken before a judge within the county in which the offense charged is alleged to have been committed and who has jurisdiction over the offenses and is nearest or most accessible with reference to the place where the arrest is made, in any of the following cases:

- (1) When a person arrested demands an immediate appearance before a judge;
- (2) When a person is arrested and charged with an offense under this chapter causing or contributing to an accident resulting in injury or death to any person;
 - (3) When the person is arrested upon a charge of negligent homicide;
- (4) When the person is arrested upon a charge of driving or operating or being in actual physical control of any motor vehicle while under the influence of intoxicating liquor or drugs;
- (5) When the person is arrested upon a charge of failure to stop in the event of an accident causing death, personal injuries, or damage to property;
- (6) When there is reasonable cause for believing that the person arrested may leave the state, except as provided in subdivision 4;
- (7) In any other event when the person arrested refused to give his written promise to appear in court, as provided in subdivision 3.
- Subd. 3. Notice to appear. When a person is arrested for any violation of any law or ordinance relating to motor vehicles, their registration or their operation, or the use of the highways, the arresting officer shall prepare a written notice to appear in court. This place must be before a judge within the county in which the offense charged is alleged to have been committed who has jurisdiction and is nearest or most accessible with reference to the place of arrest.

In order to secure release, if the arrested person is eligible for release, without being taken into custody and immediately taken before a judge, as provided in this section, the arrested person must give his written promise to appear in court by signing the written notice prepared by the arresting officer. The officer shall retain the original of the notice and deliver the copy marked "SUMMONS" to the person arrested. The officer shall then release the person arrested from custody.

Subd. 4. Reciprocal agreements. The commissioner of public safety is empowered to enter into and carry out reciprocal agreements with duly authorized

representatives of other states, districts, territories and possessions of the United States and provinces of foreign countries having laws or compacts authorizing the release of residents of party jurisdictions upon personal recognizance following arrest for violation of a law or ordinance relating to the operation of a motor vehicle.

- (a) When a reciprocal agreement is in effect, a law enforcement officer observing a violation of any traffic regulation by a resident of a party jurisdiction shall issue an appropriate citation and shall not, subject to the provisions of clause (b), require the nonresident to post bond or collateral to secure appearance for trial but shall accept the nonresident's personal recognizance, except the nonresident has the right upon request to post bond or collateral in a manner provided by law and in that case the provisions of this subdivision do not apply.
- (b) A nonresident shall not be entitled to be released on his personal recognizance if immediate appearance before a judge is required by subdivision 1 or the offense is:
- (1) One which, upon conviction, would result in the revocation of a person's drivers license under the laws of this state; or
 - (2) A violation of a highway weight limitation; or
 - (3) A violation of a law governing transportation of hazardous materials; or
 - (4) Driving a motor vehicle without a valid driver's license.

History: 1983 c 359 s 12

169.95 COURTS TO KEEP SEPARATE RECORDS OF VIOLATIONS.

Every clerk of court shall keep a full record of every case in which a person is charged with a violation of any law or ordinance, regulating the operation of vehicles on highways.

Within ten days after the conviction or forfeiture of bail of a person upon a charge of violating any provisions of any law or ordinance, regulating the operation of vehicles on highways, the clerk of the court in which the conviction was had or bail was forfeited, shall immediately forward to the department of public safety an abstract of the record of the court covering the case in which the person was convicted or forfeited bail. The abstract must be certified by the person required to prepare it to be true and correct.

The abstract must be made upon a form furnished by the department of public safety, and shall include the name and address of the party charged, the driver's license number of the person involved, the nature of the offense, the date of hearing, the plea, the judgment, or whether bail was forfeited, and the amount of the fine or forfeiture, as the case may be.

Every court shall also forward a report to the department of public safety reporting the conviction of any person of manslaughter or other felony in the commission of which a vehicle was used.

The failure, refusal, or neglect of any judicial officer to comply with any of the requirements of this section shall constitute misconduct in the office and shall be grounds for removal.

History: 1983 c 359 s 13

169.965 REGENTS OF UNIVERSITY OF MINNESOTA TO REGULATE TRAFFIC AND PARKING.

[For text of subds 1 and 2, see M.S.1982]

MINNESOTA STATUTES 1983 SUPPLEMENT

HIGHWAY TRAFFIC REGULATION 169,974

41

Subd. 3. **Prosecution.** The prosecution may be before any county or municipal court having jurisdiction over the place where the violation occurs.

[For text of subds 4 to 7, see M.S.1982]

History: 1983 c 359 s 14

169.966 STATE UNIVERSITY BOARD TO REGULATE TRAFFIC.

[For text of subds 1 to 2, see M.S.1982]

Subd. 3. **Prosecution.** The prosecution may be before any county or municipal court having jurisdiction over the place where the violation occurs.

[For text of subds 4 to 7, see M.S.1982]

History: 1983 c 359 s 15

169.971 DRIVER IMPROVEMENT CLINICS; DEFINITIONS.

[For text of subds 1 to 3, see M.S.1982]

Subd. 4. Court. "Court" means a municipal court, district court, or county court.

[For text of subd 5, see M.S.1982]

History: 1983 c 359 s 16

169.974 MOTORCYCLES, MOTOR SCOOTERS AND MOTOR BIKES.

[For text of subd 1, see M.S.1982]

Subd. 2. License requirements. No person shall operate a motorcycle on any street or highway unless he has a valid standard driver's license with a twowheeled vehicle endorsement as provided by law. No such two-wheeled vehicle endorsement shall be issued unless the person applying therefor has in possession a valid two-wheeled vehicle instruction permit as provided herein, has passed a written examination and road test administered by the department of public safety for such endorsement, and, in the case of applicants under 18 years of age, shall present a certificate or other evidence of having successfully completed an approved two-wheeled vehicle driver's safety course in this or another state, in accordance with rules promulgated by the state board of education for courses offered through the public schools, or rules promulgated by the commissioner of public safety for courses offered by a private or commercial school or institute. The commissioner of public safety may waive the road test for any applicant if he determines that the applicant possesses a valid license to operate a two-wheeled vehicle issued by a jurisdiction that requires a comparable road test for license issuance. A two-wheeled vehicle instruction permit shall be issued to any person over 16 years of age, who is in possession of a valid driver's license, who is enrolled in an approved two-wheeled vehicle driver's safety course, and who has passed a written examination for such permit and has paid such fee as the commissioner of public safety shall prescribe. A two-wheeled vehicle instruction permit shall be effective for 45 days, and may be renewed under rules to be prescribed by the commissioner of public safety.

No person who is operating by virtue of a two-wheeled vehicle instruction permit shall:

- (a) Carry any passengers on the streets and highways of this state on the motorcycle which he is operating;
 - (b) Drive the motorcycle at night time;
- (c) Drive the motorcycle on any highway marked by the commissioner as an interstate highway pursuant to title 23 of the United States Code.
- (d) Drive the motorcycle without wearing protective headgear of a type approved by the commissioner of public safety.

Notwithstanding the provisions of this subdivision, the commissioner of public safety may, however, issue a special motorcycle permit, restricted or qualified in such manner as he shall deem proper, to any person demonstrating a need therefor and unable to qualify for a standard driver's license.

[For text of subds 3 and 4, see M.S.1982]

- Subd. 5. **Driving rules.** (a) An operator of a motorcycle shall ride only upon a permanent and regular seat which is attached to the vehicle for that purpose. No other person shall ride on a motorcycle; except that passengers may ride upon a permanent and regular operator's seat if designed for two persons, or upon additional seats attached to the vehicle to the rear of the operator's seat, or in a sidecar attached to the vehicle; provided, however, that the operator of a motorcycle shall not carry passengers in a number in excess of the designed capacity of the motorcycle or sidecar attached to it. No passenger shall be carried in a position that will interfere with the safe operation of the motorcycle or the view of the operator.
- (b) No person shall ride upon a motorcycle as a passenger unless, when sitting astride the seat, the person can reach the foot rests with both feet.
- (c) No person, except passengers of sidecars or drivers and passengers of three-wheeled motorcycles, shall operate or ride upon a motorcycle except while sitting astride the seat, facing forward, with one leg on either side of the motorcycle.
- (d) No person shall operate a motorcycle while carrying animals, packages, bundles, or other cargo which prevent the person from keeping both hands on the handlebars.
- (e) No person shall operate a motorcycle between lanes of moving or stationary vehicles headed in the same direction, nor shall any person drive a motorcycle abreast of or overtake or pass another vehicle within the same traffic lane, except that motorcycles may, with the consent of both drivers, be operated not more than two abreast in a single traffic lane.
- (f) Motor vehicles including motorcycles are entitled to the full use of a traffic lane and no motor vehicle may be driven or operated in a manner so as to deprive a motorcycle of the full use of a traffic lane.
- (g) A person operating a motorcycle upon a roadway must be granted the rights and is subject to the duties applicable to a motor vehicle as provided by law, except as to those provisions which by their nature can have no application.
- (h) Clause (e) of this subdivision does not apply to police officers in the performance of their official duties.
- (i) No person shall operate a motorcycle on a street or highway unless the headlight or headlights are lighted at all times the motorcycle is so operated.
- Subd. 6. Negligence; damages without protective headgear. In an action to recover damages for negligence resulting in any head injury to an operator or passenger of a motorcycle, evidence of whether or not the injured person was

wearing protective headgear of a type approved by the commissioner of public safety shall be admissible only with respect to the question of damages for head injuries. Damages for head injuries of any person who was not wearing protective headgear shall be reduced to the extent that those injuries could have been avoided by wearing protective headgear of a type approved by the commissioner of public safety. For the purposes of this subdivision "operator or passenger" means any operator or passenger regardless of whether that operator or passenger was required by law to wear protective headgear approved by the commissioner of public safety.

[For text of subd 7, see M.S.1982]

History: 1983 c 216 art 1 s 29,30; 1983 c 345 s 8

169.99 UNIFORM TRAFFIC TICKET.

Subdivision 1. Except as provided in subdivision 3, there shall be a uniform ticket issued throughout the state by the police and peace officers or by any other person for violations of this chapter and ordinances in conformity thereto. Such uniform traffic ticket shall be in the form and have the effect of a summons and complaint. There shall also be included on the uniform ticket a receipt in lieu of bail which, when signed by the defendant, shall be a guarantee by him of his appearance in the court having jurisdiction over the matter. The uniform traffic ticket shall consist of four parts, on paper sensitized so that copies may be made without the use of carbon paper, as follows:

- (1) the complaint, with reverse side for officer's notes for testifying in court, driver's past record, and court's action, printed on white paper;
- (2) the abstract of court record for the department of public safety, which shall be a copy of the complaint with the certificate of conviction on the reverse side, printed on yellow paper;
- (3) the police record, which shall be a copy of the complaint and of the reverse side of copy (1), printed on pink paper;
- (4) the summons, with, on the reverse side, such information as the court may wish to give concerning the traffic violations bureau, and a plea of guilty and waiver, printed on off-white tag stock.

[For text of subds 1a to 3, see M.S.1982]

History: 1983 c 216 art 1 s 31